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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 
 

KPH HEALTHCARE SERVICES, INC., 
individually and on behalf of all others 
similarly situated,  

 
Plaintiff, 

v.  
 

ASR GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC., 
AMERICAN SUGAR REFINING, INC., 
DOMINO FOODS, INC., UNITED 
SUGAR PRODUCERS & REFINERS 
COOPERATIVE F/K/A UNITED 
SUGARS CORPORATION, 
MICHIGAN SUGAR COMPANY, 
COMMODITY INFORMATION, INC., 
and RICHARD WISTISEN, 

 
Defendants. 
 

 
 
 

    Case No. _________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
 

 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff KPH Healthcare Services, Inc. (“Plaintiff” or “KPH”), individually and on behalf 

of all others similarly situated (the “Class,” as defined below), upon personal knowledge as to the 

facts pertaining to itself, and upon information and belief as to all other matters, brings this action 

against ASR Group International, Inc. (“ASR Group”), American Sugar Refining, Inc. (“ASR”), 

Domino Foods, Inc. (“Domino,” together with ASR Group and ASR, “ASR/Domino”), Michigan 

Sugar Company (“Michigan Sugar”), United Sugar Producers & Refiners f/k/a United Sugars 

Corporation (“United,” together with ASR/Domino and Michigan, the “Producing Defendants”), 

Commodity Information, Inc. (“Commodity”), and Richard Wistisen (“Wistisen,” together with 

Commodity, “Commodity,” and together with the Producing Defendants, “Defendants”) for 
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violations of the Sherman Antitrust Act and seeks treble damages, injunctive relief, and other 

relief pursuant to the federal antitrust laws and demands a trial by jury on all matters so triable.  

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This lawsuit arises from Defendants’ unlawful agreement to fix prices for 

Granulated Sugar in the United States. The Producing Defendants are among the largest 

producers and sellers of Granulated Sugar in the United States and are direct competitors, 

especially after United’s acquisition of another competitor, Imperial Sugar Company (“Imperial”) 

in 2023.  

2. Beginning at least as early as January 1, 2019, the exact date being unknown to 

Plaintiff at this time, Defendants and their co-conspirators conspired to artificially inflate the 

price of Granulated Sugar in the United States. Among the victims of the conspiracy are direct 

purchasers of Granulated Sugar from the Producing Defendants, including food and beverage 

manufacturers, retailers, food service companies, and distributors.  

3. To implement their price-fixing conspiracy, Defendants exchanged detailed, 

competitively sensitive, non-public information about Granulated Sugar prices, capacity, sales 

volume, supply, and demand.  

4. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful agreement, direct purchasers of Granulated 

Sugar in the United States and its territories, including Plaintiff and the Class members, paid 

supra-competitive prices for Granulated Sugar sold by Defendants in the United States and its 

territories beginning no later than January 1, 2019, and running through the present (the “Class 

Period”), in violation of Sections 1 and 3 of the Sherman Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 3). 
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II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337(a), as this action arises under Section 1 of the Sherman Act (15 U.S.C. 

§ 1), and Sections 4 and 16 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 15(a) and 26).  

6. Venue is proper under Section 12 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. § 22) because 

Defendants transact business in this District and a substantial part of the events giving rise to 

Plaintiff’s claims occurred in this District, including sales of Granulated Sugar in this District. 

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because, among other things, 

they either (1) transact business throughout the United States, including this District; (2) have 

substantial contacts within the United States, including in this District, and/or (3) are engaged in 

an illegal anticompetitive scheme that was directed at, and had the intended effect of causing 

injury to, persons residing in, located in, and doing business in the United States, including in this 

District. 

8. During the Class Period, the Producing Defendants sold and shipped sugar in a 

continuous and uninterrupted flow of interstate commerce, which included sales and shipments to 

or from this District. Defendants’ conduct had a direct, substantial, and reasonably foreseeable 

effect on interstate commerce in the United States, including this District. 

III. PARTIES 

9. Plaintiff KPH is a New York corporation with its principal place of business 

located in Gouverneur, New York. During the Class Period, KPH purchased Granulated Sugar 

directly from one of the Producing Defendants.  

10. Defendant ASR Group is a privately held Florida corporation and global producer 

and seller of Granulated Sugar based in West Palm Beach, Florida. ASR Group asserts that it is 

“the world’s largest refiner and marketer of cane sugar[;] we sell our branded products and service 
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our customers in every key channel, including industrial, grocery and e-commerce, food service 

and specialty.” 

11. Defendant ASR is a privately held Florida corporation and global producer and 

seller of Granulated Sugar based in West Palm Beach, Florida. 

12. Defendant Domino is ASR Group and ASR’s marketing and sales subsidiary for 

Granulated Sugar, with a current principal place of business in West Palm Beach, Florida. Several 

of its officers and one of its three refineries are located in Yonkers, New York. ASR/Domino 

markets most of its Granulated Sugar under the Domino® brand name.  

13. ASR/Domino operates cane refineries in Crockett, California; Chalmette, 

Louisiana; Baltimore, Maryland; and Yonkers, New York. 

14. Defendant United, a Minnesota corporation, is a marketing cooperative based in 

Edina, Minnesota. United has four member owners: (1) United States Sugar Corporation, which 

owns and operates a cane mill and cane refinery in Clewiston, Florida; (2) American Crystal 

Sugar Company; (3) Minn-Dak Farmers Cooperative; and (4) Wyoming Sugar Company, LLC, 

all of which grow and process sugar beets at eight production facilities located in Minnesota, 

Montana, North Dakota, and Wyoming. 

15. United touts that “[b]ecause United has a unique, fully integrated business 

structure, we provide and transport sugar throughout the nation. We have 9 sugar producing 

plants, primarily in the Red River Valley along the border of North Dakota and Minnesota. We 

also produce beet sugar in Montana and Wyoming, as well as cane sugar in the Florida 

Everglades.”1 

 
1 See FAQ, United Sugar, at https://unitedsugarpr.com/faq/.  
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16. United approaches the market as a unified competitor, marketing and selling all the 

Granulated Sugar produced by its member owners. United handles locating customers, 

negotiating sales contracts, and arranging all logistics. United also sets the prices for all the 

products it markets and sells on its members’ behalf.  

17. Defendant Michigan Sugar, a Michigan corporation, is a cooperative consisting of 

900 sugar beet owners. It is headquartered in Bay City, Michigan and has sugar beet processing 

facilities in Bay City, Caro, Croswell, and Sebewaing, Michigan. It also has warehouse facilities 

in Michigan and Ohio. 

18. Defendant Commodity is a Delaware corporation based in Orem, Utah. 

Throughout the Class Period, the Producing Defendants utilized Commodity to implement the 

conspiracy and the exchange of confidential, proprietary, and competitively sensitive non-public 

information.  

19. Defendant Wistisen is the principal of Commodity who, as part of Defendants’ 

unlawful agreement, collected and shared confidential, proprietary, and competitively sensitive 

non-public information between the Producing Defendants.  

20. Various other persons, firms and corporations not named as defendants have 

participated as co-conspirators with Defendants and have performed acts and made statements in 

furtherance of the conspiracy. Defendants are jointly and severally liable for the acts of their co-

conspirators whether or not named as defendants in this Complaint.  

21. Whenever reference is made to any act of a corporation, the allegation means that 

the corporation engaged in the act by or through its officers, directors, agents, employees, or 

representatives while they were actively engaged in the management, direction, control, or 

transaction of the corporation’s business or affairs. 
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22. Defendants are also liable for acts done in furtherance of the alleged conspiracy by 

companies they acquired through mergers and acquisitions. 

IV. GRANULATED SUGAR 

23. “Granulated Sugar,” also known as “refined,” “white,” or “table” sugar, is sugar 

ground to a certain size. The refining process used to create white sugar removes molasses. As its 

name implies, Granulated Sugar does not include sugar in any liquified form. Granulated Sugar 

can be manufactured from either cane sugar or beet sugar; the two versions are chemically 

indistinguishable. Granulated Sugar is a common ingredient found in many foods. Dry, 

granulated, white sugar is manufactured and sold to direct purchasers who resell, consume, or 

further refine it into various other types of sugar products. Granulated Sugar is the predominant 

form of sugar sold in the United States. 

24. Only three companies in the United States produce Granulated Sugar from cane 

sugar: United, ASR/Domino, and Louisiana Sugar Refining (“LSR”). A fourth company, 

Imperial, also produced Granulated Sugar from cane prior to being acquired by United States 

Sugar.  

V. THE UNITED STATES MARKET FOR GRANULATED SUGAR  

25. Sales of Granulated Sugar in the United States and its territories totaled $13.2 

billion in 2023.2  

26. During the Class Period, the Producing Defendants, directly or through their 

subsidiaries or other affiliates, sold Granulated Sugar in the United States in a continuous and 

uninterrupted flow of interstate commerce, including through, in, into, or from this District. 

 
2 Sugar Processing in the US – Market Size (2005-2029), 

https://www.ibisworld.com/industry-statistics/market-size/sugar-processing-united-
states/#:~:text=What%20was%20the%20market%20size,was%20%2413.2bn%20in%202023. 
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27. During the Class Period, the Producing Defendants collectively controlled a 

majority of the market for Granulated Sugar in the United States.  

28. Granulated Sugar, regardless of whether it is made from sugar cane or sugar beets, 

is a commodity product with little or no differentiation based on the producer.  

29. Granulated Sugar producers, either directly or via their marketing affiliates, market 

and sell directly to customers, including food and beverage manufacturers, retailers, food service 

companies, and distributors.   

VI. DEFENDANTS AGREED TO ARTIFICIALLY RAISE, FIX, MAINTAIN, OR 
STABILIZE PRICES OF GRANULATED SUGAR  

30. The Producing Defendants agreed to artificially raise, fix, maintain, or stabilize 

prices of Granulated Sugar throughout the Class Period. In order to implement their unlawful 

agreement, they knowingly shared accurate, competitively sensitive, non-public information with 

each other, including through Commodity. There is no economically rational reason for the 

Producing Defendants to share such information. This information was shared for the purpose of 

enabling Defendants to effectuate their agreement to artificially affect prices and avoid competing 

with one another.  

31. The Producing Defendants used Commodity to facilitate the price-fixing 

conspiracy. Commodity purports to analyze the sugar industry. However, Commodity has no 

public presence. It does not maintain a website on the internet. It does not advertise its services to 

the public. It does not publish publicly available reports on the sugar industry or offer to sell or 

provide any reports on or analysis of the sugar industry to other than a select few, as alleged 

herein.   

32. Commodity does not gather information through voluntary surveys or periodic 

polling that it anonymizes. Instead, the Producing Defendants regularly shared competitively 
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sensitive information about their pricing and sold positions with Commodity, and Commodity in 

turn contemporaneously shared that competitively sensitive information with the Producing 

Defendants.  

33. Commodity does not make its reports available to purchasers of Granulated Sugar 

and others in the sugar supply chain, thereby strengthening the advantage that the Producing 

Defendants gain by sharing information only with one another as producers. 

34. Commodity does not anonymize the competitively sensitive information it receives 

from the Producing Defendants when passing such information on. Furthermore, Commodity 

does not share or offer to share this competitively sensitive information with the customers of the 

Producing Defendants, nor does it publicly publish the competitively sensitive information it 

obtains from and shares with the Producing Defendants or otherwise make it available to 

consumers. 

35. The Producing Defendants understand the competitive sensitivity of the 

information that they provide to Commodity. Commodity understands that the competitively 

sensitive information that the Producing Defendants share would not ordinarily be disclosed to 

competitors. The purpose of their sharing was to enable United, Michigan Sugar, and 

ASR/Domino to raise, fix, maintain, stabilize, or coordinate prices of Granulated Sugar in the 

United States. 

36. Using the non-anonymized competitively sensitive non-public information 

exchanged through Commodity, the Producing Defendants ensured that they would not undercut 

each other’s prices and cause prices to decrease as they would in a competitive market. The 

Producing Defendants learned of each other’s current pricing, crop size, crop yields, future beliefs 

Case 1:24-cv-01941   Document 1   Filed 03/14/24   Page 8 of 37



 
  

 9 

on pricing, and sold positions only because Commodity collects this competitively sensitive 

information from each of them and shares it with the other, pursuant to their unlawful agreement. 

37.  The information exchanged through Commodity included the companies’ current 

pricing, future or forward pricing, pricing strategies, sold positions, spot prices, contract prices, 

crop yields, and crop size.  

38. Commodity provided this reciprocal information to the Producing Defendants 

rapidly, often within hours of having received it. The Producing Defendants then used the 

information they received from Commodity when deciding how much to charge for their 

products. 

39. The sharing of information between the Producing Defendants thus enabled them 

to artificially raise, fix, maintain, or stabilize the prices at which Granulated Sugar was sold to 

their customers pursuant to their anticompetitive agreement. 

40. As noted below, similar conduct by earlier producers of Granulated Sugar led to a 

consent decree in 1978 that forbade such information exchanges by competitors. 

41. A sold position is the percentage of a seller’s supply of Granulated Sugar that has 

been sold. As a seller’s sold position increases, that seller will generally raise prices. The sold 

position thus provides important information about the extent to which a supplier will or will not 

be aggressive on price going forward. Knowing each other’s sold positions allowed the Producing 

Defendants to be more aggressive with pricing.  

42. Due to United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) production allotments 

linked to USDA loan programs and limitations on imports and tariffs, the Producing Defendants 

know that as they sell out of Granulated Sugar, they can charge higher prices because there will 

be little to no additional competitive product available in the market that could force them to 
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reduce price. Thus, knowing one another’s sold position allows them to calculate when and how 

much they can raise, fix, maintain, or stabilize prices due to the amount of supply.  

43. Furthermore, as market leaders, the Producing Defendants account for the majority 

of Granulated Sugar production and sales. As a result, smaller market participants are not an 

effective competitive constraint on Producing Defendant’s dominance.  

44. The exchange of pricing, crop size and yield, and sold position information by the 

Producing Defendants was intended to ensure – and did ensure – higher prices for Granulated 

Sugar than would have existed in a competitive market unaffected by the Defendants’ 

anticompetitive agreement. 

VII.  THE ANTICOMPETITIVE AGREEMENT 

45. The Producing Defendants knowingly and intentionally sought, shared, received, 

and used non-public, competitively sensitive information from Mr. Wistisen of Commodity 

pursuant to their anticompetitive agreement as alleged below, in order to raise, fix, maintain, or 

stabilize Granulated Sugar prices. 

46. United’s sold position was confidential, and its employees were supposed to keep 

that information close to the vest. Nevertheless, United shared it with Mr. Wistisen, who they 

knew would pass it along to ASR/Domino and other competitors. 

47. ASR/Domino has a written code of conduct with an ethics policy that prevents any 

ASR/Domino employee from directly talking about ASR/Domino’s pricing with a representative 

of one of ASR/Domino’s competitors. Nevertheless, ASR/Domino employees indirectly shared 

non-public, confidential, commercially sensitive pricing, sold position, and other information with 

Mr. Wistisen knowing that he would provide the information to other competitors. 

48.  United does not publish the company’s current Granulated Sugar prices or its sold 

position, i.e. the percentage of its crop that is booked for the current fiscal year. 
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49. Despite these internal policies, the Producing Defendants shared competitively 

sensitive information with one another through Commodity during the Class Period pursuant to 

their agreement. The information exchanged includes the companies’ current pricing, future or 

forward pricing, pricing strategies, sold positions, spot prices, and contract prices. The Producing 

Defendants used the information they received from Commodity when deciding how much to 

charge for their products pursuant to their price-fixing agreement.  

50. Commodity provided this reciprocal information to the Producing Defendants 

rapidly, often within hours of having received it. High-level executives at the Producing 

Defendants, who had direct involvement in pricing, shared the sensitive information with Mr. 

Wistisen. The sharing of information between the Producing Defendants thus allowed them to 

raise, fix, maintain, or stabilize Granulated Sugar prices pursuant to the unlawful agreement. 

51. The unlawful agreement to fix prices was implemented through information 

exchanged through Commodity, which included current pricing, future or forward pricing, pricing 

strategies, and sold positions. The pricing shared among United, Michigan Sugar, ASR/Domino, 

and Commodity included spot prices, contract prices, and sold positions. Current spot prices can 

also be turned into contract prices.  

52. As an example, in an email communication to Mr. Wistisen from ASR/Domino’s 

Vice President of Industrial Sales, Alan Henderson, disclosed ASR/Domino’s 2020 pricing and 

sold positions. ASR/Domino disclosed this confidential information knowing it would be shared 

with its competitors, and in return, that it would get its competitors’ confidential information. Mr. 

Wistisen responded that he would send crop and pricing updates in the next day or two. 

53. The Producing Defendants provided accurate information to each other through 

Mr. Wistisen. ASR/Domino was typically “upfront” with the information it provided to Mr. 
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Wistisen. In one example of such “upfront” information, Mr. Henderson disclosed to Mr. 

Wistisen in an August 2020 email pricing updates for ASR/Domino Granulated Sugar.  

54. Moreover, Mr. Wistisen told both United and ASR/Domino that he spoke with the 

other company, Michigan Sugar, and other sellers, and that the information he provided came 

directly from them. For example, Mr. Wistisen wrote to United that “Domino saying back up to 

$40.50 to $41,” on one occasion, and on another, he wrote to Mr. Henderson that “the United 

[pricing and sold position] info I provided was direct from them this morning. They held a huddle 

yesterday (sounded like all sales reps/VP were present), and those numbers were the result.” When 

discussing pricing, he stated that he did not have Michigan pricing yet, and “I hope to talk with 

them [Michigan] on Fri./Mon.” 

55. Mr. Wistisen provided information on pricing and sold position to the Producing 

Defendants rapidly, often soon after having received it. On September 21, 2020, Mr. Wistisen 

separately asked, within minutes, Mr. Henderson and Eric Speece, a Director of Strategic 

Accounts at United, if there was “anything new of interest on the pricing front?” They each 

responded with their company’s respective pricing and sold positions. Mr. Speece shared, “We 

are firm at $36.50 (no change) and now $38.50 on cane (an increase of $0.50/cwt) and yes you 

heard correctly we are 90+% sold.” In response, Commodity thanked United “for keeping the 

communication lines open!” 

56. At the same time, Mr. Wistisen emailed Mr. Henderson, relaying, “United also 

90+% (including cane) not sure on price, last indication was early Sep, were still in market and 

mostly firm at $36.50 and $38. Just getting started on cane side. Early read suggests $38-40, so 

down on the coasts and up in south.” Mr. Henderson responded, “Lots of meeting[s] this week so 

I’ll keep it short. Pricing (Cane)[:] North and mid-Atlantic - $40.50 to 41.00 FOB – prices were 
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lower past few weeks but have firmed up to these levels. No discounting at this time. Gulf - 

$38.50 fob[.] West - $40.50 to $41.00 fob firm[.]” They also discussed other things such as sold 

positions of ASR/Domino’s competitors. 

57. On September 22, 2020, less than three hours after receiving Mr. Henderson’s 

response, Mr. Wistisen provided United and ASR/Domino with the information from each other in 

emails less than a minute apart. Wistisen told ASR/Domino that “U.S. Sugar recently increased to 

$38.50, so looks like range is $38.50 to $41, nice increase over last month. . . . Beet not much 

change from earlier indications, prices are $36.50 to $38.75, very little sugar available at low 

price, industry coverage 87%, all but NSM over 90+% booked.” To United, Mr. Wistisen wrote, 

“ASR saying back up to $40.50 to $41. So now I have cane range at $38.50 to $41 Coverage . . . . 

ASR 5% below that, and other southern refiners up 10-15% from the average. . . . Waiting to 

confirm from Michigan, but Midwest ranging from $36.50 to 38.75, very little available at low 

price (so I hear).” 

58. Similarly, Mr. Wistisen shared Michigan Sugar’s pricing and sold positions with 

United and ASR/Domino. In August 2020, he reported to Mr. Henderson at ASR/Domino, “My 

goodness, what a difference a month makes. Michigan 85+% booked.” The next month, Mr. 

Wistisen reported, “Michigan holding forecasts unchanged, sugars nearing 16%, factories running 

well, stockpiling on Oct. 19th.” He added with regard to pricing that Michigan was at “$38.5+, 

selective selling.” 

59. In yet another example, Mr. Wistisen emailed both Mr. Speece at United and Mr. 

Henderson at ASR/Domino within approximately 40 minutes of each other in mid-November 

2020 asking “where [they] would put . . . prices?” Both responded later that day with pricing 

information. 
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60. The communications between Mr. Wistisen and United, Michigan Sugar, and 

ASR/Domino were candid and specific about pricing. In a November 2020 email, ASR/Domino’s 

Mr. Henderson emailed Mr. Wistisen, “Prices have firmed up again based on higher #16 values, 

beets close to sold out and less imports, tier 2 sugar available at this time. Near-by values back up 

to $46.00 FOB all locations. For calendar 2021: East/West - $42.00 fob[;] Gulf - $39.50 fob[;] 

Cane Coverage – 85-90%[.]” Mr. Wistisen responded by providing United’s pricing to 

ASR/Domino. 

61. That same month, Mr. Wistisen emailed Domino/ASR asking for “[a]ny guidance 

[ASR/Domino] could give on how sub-30 cent No 16 prices makes sense?” Mr. Henderson at 

ASR/Domino and Mr. Wistisen exchanged messages regarding the “reason” Mr. Henderson had 

“heard,” and Mr. Wistisen responded with real-time information from competitor United, “Long 

conversation with United: won’t set FY22 price list until March, but the plan remains to hold 

steady at $36.50 and $38.50 based on demand, inventories, No. 16, and looking down the road 

and expecting another year of tight quotas in FY22. . . . Selling FY21 firm, good activity, little to 

no competition from NSM or Western.” Mr. Henderson passed this along to others in 

ASR/Domino, adding, “United is usually pretty upfront with [Wistisen].” 

62. In another message in April of 2021, Mr. Wistisen wrote to ASR/Domino 

regarding pricing. Mr. Henderson responded with specific prices and told Mr. Wistisen, “I believe 

your price predictions below are very accurate. Prices in PY21 are very firm.” 

63. In May of 2021, ASR/Domino informed Mr. Wistisen of FY21 pricing. Mr. 

Wistisen responded that United’s “prices [were] unchanged.” 

64. In June of 2021, Mr. Wistisen sent an email to ASR/Domino sharing that he had 

“heard . . . United reportedly (I’ll talk with them tomorrow) holding $36.50 gross . . . [a]nd that 
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ASR is holding firm on the coasts.” Mr. Henderson at ASR/Domino responded that “[w]ord on 

the street [was] United moving up a $1.00 cwt since bookings now over 60%.” Mr. Henderson 

then went on to share future prices for the fourth quarter of 2021. In July, Mr. Wistisen responded, 

among other things, that “Michigan . . . 80+% [booked,] and rumors suggest United is also now 

around 80% booked and recently increased prices (I hope to have confirmation soon).” 

ASR/Domino’s Mr. Henderson forwarded Mr. Wistisen’s message to coworkers saying, “no 

official word yet. Let’s see if we can hunt something down.” 

65. Also in July of 2021, Wistisen emailed Mr. Henderson saying, “the United info I 

provided was direct from them this morning. . . . They are a hair shy of 90% sold.”  

66. In another example, Mr. Speece provided United’s current pricing to Mr. Wistisen 

and informed him that he did not “anticipate any changes to our prices” as they had “zero 

problems selling at those values.” Mr. Wistisen responded, “Just to clarify: United has not issued 

FY22 list prices, and at this point doesn’t expect FY22 prices to change much from remainder 

FY21?” to which Mr. Speece responded, “Give me a ring and we can discuss.” After confirming 

the information with Mr. Speece by phone, Mr. Wistisen wrote to ASR/Domino’s Mr. Henderson 

a few hours later providing the information that he had a “[l]ong conversation with United” and 

that United “won’t set FY22 price list until March, but the plan remains to hold steady at $36.50 

and $38.50.” 

67. The Producing Defendants’ personnel also received sensitive pricing and sold 

position information from Mr. Wistisen on other sellers. For example, Mr. Wistisen provided Mr. 

Henderson pricing information regarding Cargill in July 2021, to which Mr. Henderson 

responded, “Cargill also makes no sense . . . . Last I heard they were at $38.50 gross fob bulk 

Gramercy.” 
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68. The Producing Defendants used the sensitive information they exchanged through 

Mr. Wistisen in furtherance of their anticompetitive agreement and used it to send messages to 

competitors about desired price levels. For example, Robert Sproull, Senior Vice President of 

Sales & Marketing at ASR Group, forwarded pricing information from Mr. Wistisen to others at 

ASR/Domino with a recommendation of what price ASR/Domino would have to offer to win a 

specific customer’s business. In another example, United’s Mr. Speece thought a competitor was 

selling at too low a price, so he told his colleagues that United “may want to communicate pricing 

earlier than the colloquium to send a message.” Knowing a competitor’s sold position was used to 

justify higher prices. 

69. ASR/Domino’s Mr. Henderson frequently forwarded the information obtained 

about other competitors from Mr. Wistisen to his sales team and his superior. In one such 

example, Mr. Henderson received, and forward to his subordinates, information from Mr. 

Wistisen that United would likely be adding bookings and raising prices over the following 

month, and “not by just a dollar.” In another example, Mr. Henderson sent to his boss, Mr. 

Sproull, information on competitors’ inventory position that he received from Mr. Wistisen.  

70. United not only received information from Mr. Wistisen that it used in pricing 

decisions and to send messages about pricing to competitors, but also affirmatively used him to 

signal competitors. In one example, United’s Executive Vice President, Dirk Swart, told United’s 

Mr. Speece that he wanted Mr. Wistisen to “hear” that United’s current beet sugar price was 

$36.50 and cane sugar price was $38, but United was contemplating increasing its prices given its 

sold position. They discussed what they wanted to “indicate” to Mr. Wistisen before deciding to 

continue the conversation by phone. 
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71. United’s Mr. Swart believes that the “better information about what [his] 

competitor’s actual prices were, [United] could better avoid these destructive situations” of 

customers using pricing information to negotiate better prices. Customers believe that competitors 

sharing this information harms them. 

72. Mr. Wistisen also wrote to ASR/Domino’s Mr. Henderson and asked him: 

“Wondering where you would put Granulated prices and coverage?”  An hour and fifteen minutes 

later, Mr. Henderson provided “[p]ricing for FY20.”  

73. On August 17, 2020, Mr. Wistisen wrote to Mr. Henderson, providing him with 

sugar market updates and asked: “Where would you put cane prices and coverage?” The next day, 

August 18, Mr. Henderson responded: “Quick update: Pricing: [next three lines redacted].” 

74. On September 21, 2020, Mr. Wistisen wrote to Mr. Henderson again, providing 

several paragraphs of sugar industry news, after which he asked: “Anything new of interest on the 

pricing front? . . . Where would you put ASR/Domino prices . . . ?” On September 22, 2020, Mr. 

Henderson responded with “Pricing (Cane).” Mr. Wistisen quickly answered back: “U.S. Sugar 

recently increased to $38.50, so looks like the range is $38.50 to $41, nice increase over last 

month.” 

75. On November 16, 2020, Mr. Wistisen wrote to ASR/Domino, asking: “Curious 

what you’re hearing on domestic raw and Granulated pricing. I haven’t heard back from United 

yet. Did they pullback from spot market? Where would you put prices and cane coverage?” Mr. 

Wistisen received his response from ASR/Domino later that day.   

76. On January 19, 2021, Mr. Wistisen wrote to United delivering several paragraphs of 

information on developments in the sugar industry. Near the end, he asked: “Has United put out a 
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price range on FY22?”  On January 20, Mr. Speece at United responded: “We have not yet set 

pricing for 2022, but we will soon.” 

77. On February 15, 2021, Mr. Wistisen wrote to Mr. Speece at United: “Any action 

in FY22? Has United put a number on it yet? No word back from other processors/Refiners, I’ll 

send along indications.”  Mr. Speece quickly responded:  “We are still at the $36.50 and $38.50 

with zero problems selling at those values. I do not anticipate any changes to our prices, but we 

have not formally decided. No action on 2022 just some small inquiries.”  Mr. Wistisen asked: 

“Just to clarify: United has not issued FY22 list prices, and at this point doesn’t expect FY22 

prices to change much from remainder FY21?”  On February 16, 2021, Mr. Speece answered: 

“Give me a ring and we can discuss.” 

78. The next day, February 17, 2021, Mr. Wistisen wrote to ASR/Domino: “Long 

conversation with United:  won’t set FY22 price list until March, but the plan remains to hold 

steady at $36.50 and $38.50 . . . .” 

79. On April 29, 2021, Mr. Wistisen wrote to Mr. Henderson: “Where would you put 

price ranges and demand? I have spot $36.50 firm Midwest, $39.00 firm Michigan (but watching 

Baltimore progress, could creep higher), and east and west coasts now at $44.00. And forward I 

have quoting at $35.50-$36 Midwest, 37.50-38 Gulf, $42.00 Coasts,” and provided pricing 

information. Mr. Henderson responded: “I believe your pricing numbers below are very 

accurate.” 

80. On May 11, 2021, Mr. Wistisen wrote to ASR/Domino: “Are those higher spot 

prices, [redacted] holding up?”  On May 12, 2021, Mr. Henderson responded: “All is good in 

Baltimore. Melt rates close to 90% of pre-fire levels. With that being said near-by prices are 

selling at [redacted].” 
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81. On May 18, 2021, Mr. Wistisen wrote again to ASR/Domino: “Just talked with 

United: prices unchanged, spot and forward.” 

82. On June 16, 2021, Mr. Wistisen wrote to ASR/Domino: “The word from United: 

80-85% sold, will be at 90 very soon. Beet holding at $36.50 firm, and cane increased to $39.50 

firm. . . .  Any changes in ASR/Domino forward prices? I have you at [redacted] and [redacted].” 

Later, Mr. Wistisen adds: “The United info I provided was direct from them this morning.” 

83. On July 12, 2021, Mr. Wistisen wrote to ASR/Domino, asking, “What’s happening 

on the cane side of the fence? Sounds like you’re now [redacted], and Imperial $49. Where would 

you put forward pricing and coverage?”  Mr. Henderson responded: “United price increase. Rich 

is thinking $2.00 increase but no official word yet.” 

84. There is no plausible, non-conspiratorial justification for the Producing Defendants 

to use Commodity to secretly share highly confidential and proprietary detailed information about 

their pricing and sold position. In a competitive market, such proprietary, competitively sensitive 

information would be a closely guarded secret.  Economic theory suggests that the routine 

exchange among competitors of such sensitive internal company information reduces the intensity 

of competition. 

85. Defendants knew and intended that their private exchanges of competitively 

sensitive information about prices and sold positions would allow them to artificially raise, fix, 

maintain, or stabilize Granulated Sugar prices above the levels they would have been absent the 

anticompetitive conduct alleged herein. 

86. The Producing Defendants are interested in achieving higher prices for Granulated 

Sugar. In one instance, United raised prices in part to “send[] a message” to its competitors “that 
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we were not interested in allowing the market to slip lower.” United’s CEO Matthew Wineinger 

testified that he was “confident” that “word got back” to United’s competitors. 

87. Similarly, United at times pulled its competitive punches for fear of prices 

dropping. (“As with all plans of this nature where we are looking at taking share from 

competitors, we need to factor in competitive responses . . . . In our minds the key is stay 

balanced, thoughtful where the moves will initiate relatively smaller reactions.”). 

88. ASR/Domino similarly anticipated competitive reactions, used pricing to send 

signals to competitors, and considered how its actions may cause market prices to decline.  

89.  ASR/Domino decided not to get “aggressive” on pricing because ASR/Domino 

“would like to avoid sending a signal out to competitors that we are chasing business and 

lowering pricing.” ASR/Domino also wanted to “signal to the market” that there would be 

tightness and ASR/Domino would “maintain price.”  

90. ASR/Domino also observed that the proposed acquisition of Imperial by a member 

of the United cooperative was a “good thing” for ASR/Domino because it would help to align 

United’s pricing strategy with ASR/Domino’s. ASR/Domino believed that after the acquisition of 

Imperial, “[i]t’s going to be more important than ever to stay close to United” and “[t]his is setting 

up to smell a bit like ADM/Cargill in the corn sweetener industry. 2 players that account for 

~65% of the industry . . . .” 

91. Upon information and belief, Michigan Sugar likewise participated in the sharing 

of sensitive information regarding pricing and sold positions with the intention of artificially 

raising, fixing, maintaining, or stabilizing Granulated Sugar prices above the levels they would 

have been absent the anticompetitive conduct alleged herein. 

Case 1:24-cv-01941   Document 1   Filed 03/14/24   Page 20 of 37



 
  

 21 

VIII. GOVERNMENTAL GUIDELINES PROHIBIT DEFENDANTS’  CONDUCT 

92. In 2000, the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) and the Federal Trade 

Commission (“FTC”) issued their joint “Guidelines For Collaborations Among Competitors” 

(“FTC/DOJ Guidelines”).3 

93. The FTC/DOJ Guidelines state that:  

 Agreements that facilitate collusion sometimes involve the 
exchange or disclosure of information. . . . [I]n some cases, the 
sharing of information related to a market in which the collaboration 
operates or in which the participants are actual or potential 
competitors may increase the likelihood of collusion on matters such 
as price, output, or other competitively sensitive variables.  The 
competitive concern depends on the nature of the information shared. 
Other things being equal, the sharing of information relating to price, 
output, costs, or strategic planning is more likely to raise competitive 
concern than the sharing of information relating to less competitively 
sensitive variables. Similarly, other things being equal, the sharing 
of information on current operating and future business plans is more 
likely to raise concerns than the sharing of historical information. 
Finally, other things being equal, the sharing of individual company 
data is more likely to raise concern than the sharing of aggregated 
data that does not permit recipients to identify individual firm data.4 
 

94. In 2010, the United States submitted comments to the Organization For Economic 

Cooperation and Development on the legal approach to information sharing among competitors.  

95.  In those comments, it stated that: 

[C]ertain information exchanges among competitors may violate 
Section 1 of the Sherman Act, which prohibits a ‘contract, 
combination…or conspiracy’ that unreasonably restrains trade. The 
antitrust concern is that information exchanges may facilitate 
anticompetitive harm by advancing competing sellers’ ability either 
to collude or to tacitly coordinate in a manner that lessens 

 
3 See https://www.ftc.gov/sites/default/files/documents/public_events/joint-venture-

hearings-antitrust-guidelines-collaboration-among-competitors/ftcdojguidelines-2.pdf. 
4 Id. at 12-13. 
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competition. Thus, for example, exchanges on price may lead to 
illegal price coordination.5 
 

96. It went on to say that “[i]nformation exchanges can be treated as circumstantial 

evidence of an unlawful price fixing or market allocation agreement among competitors, and in 

such a case are analyzed under the per se rule as a violation of the antitrust laws.”6 Factors that 

inform the analysis include the nature and quantity of the information, the currentness of the 

exchanged data, the parties’ intent in sharing data, the concentrated nature of the industry, and the 

frequency of the exchanges.7 

97. Similarly, the FTC issued general guidance in 2014 confirming that when 

“competing companies seek market intelligence by exchanging price or other commercially 

sensitive information, that may facilitate collusion . . . in violation of the antitrust laws.” 

98. Since these position papers were written, the DOJ has expressed even greater 

concerns about information sharing among competitors. In February of 2023, it withdrew three 

policy statements regarding the healthcare industry, stating that “the statements are overly 

permissive on certain subjects, such as information sharing.”8 

99. The withdrawal of the policy statements was preceded by remarks made by 

principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General Doha Mekki on February 2, 2023, in which she said 

that “throughout its enforcement and policy work, the DOJ has had ‘serious concerns’ about 

whether the factors set out in the safety zones are appropriate for the industry as it exists today.” 

Mr. Mekki noted that “[e]xchanges facilitated by [third-party] intermediaries can have the same 

 
5 Id. at 1. 
6 Id at 3. 
7 Id. at 4.  
8 https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-withdraws-outdated-enforcement-

policy-statements. 
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anticompetitive effect as direct exchange among competitors.” Additionally, she said that “the 

suggestion that data that’s at least three months old is unlikely to be competitively sensitive or 

valuable is underpinned by the rise of pricing algorithms that can increase the competitive value 

of historical data.”  

100. Following the withdrawal of the policy statements, at a conference in March of 

2023, Deputy Assistant Attorney General Michael Kades commented on DOJ’s new position 

related to information sharing. Responding to questions on what proper information sharing looks 

like without safe harbors, Mr. Kades said that “top-of-mind questions should be what information 

is being shared, how it is being used, and what the impacts are of that sharing. Any time 

information sharing appears to be suppressing price competition or eliminating other forms of 

competition, ‘that should send red sirens off.’”  

101. The DOJ has also emphasized that structural market factors can be important in 

assessing whether conspiratorial conduct in violation of the antitrust laws has occurred. In 2016, 

it issued a primer on price-fixing where it said that: While collusion can occur in almost any 

industry, it is more likely to occur in some industries than in others. An indicator of collusion may 

be more meaningful when industry conditions are already favorable to collusion. It further stated: 

• Collusion is more likely to occur if there are few sellers. The fewer 
the number of sellers, the easier it is for them to get together and 
agree on prices, bids, customers, or territories. Collusion may also 
occur when the number of firms is fairly large, but there is a small 
group of major sellers and the rest are “fringe” sellers who control 
only a small fraction of the market. The probability of collusion 
increases if other products cannot easily be substituted for the 
product in question or if there are restrictive specifications for the 
product being procured. 

 
• The more standardized a product is, the easier it is for competing 

firms to reach agreement on a common price structure. It is much 
harder to agree on other forms of competition, such as design, 
features, quality, or service. 
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• Repetitive purchases may increase the chance of collusion, as the 

vendors may become familiar with other bidders and future contracts 
provide the opportunity for competitors to share the work. Collusion 
is more likely if the competitors know each other well through social 
connections, trade associations, legitimate business contacts, or 
shifting employment from one company to another.9 

 
102. Defendants’ scheme described herein is far outside the scope of permissible 

information sharing among competitors. For example: 

(a) The FTC/DOJ Guidelines note the high risk of antitrust issues for information 

sharing programs in industries with a history of collusion. As explained below, 

sugar refiners have a history of price fixing (see infra Section XI). 

(b) The more competitively sensitive the information being shared, the higher the 

antitrust concern for such information sharing. Upon information and belief, the 

detailed pricing and sold position information shared by Defendants would in a 

competitive industry be considered trade secrets. Therefore, the competitive 

sensitivity of the information shared by United, ASR/Domino, and Michigan 

Sugar warrants a particularly high level of antitrust concern. 

(c) The older or more historical the information being shared, the less concern the 

FTC and DOJ have with information collaborations by competitors. However, 

here, the Defendants shared current and future price information, including their 

current pricing, future or forward pricing, pricing strategies, and sold positions. 

Commodity normally exchanged accurate and current pricing and sold position 

information within hours of receiving it, and the Producing Defendants would then 

consider and use that sensitive information. This is the sort of current information 

 
9 https://www.justice.gov/d9/pages/attachments/2016/01/05/211578.pdf. 
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which clearly supports heightened antitrust concern under the FTC/DOJ 

Guidelines. 

(d) The pricing and sold positions were not anonymized. Defendants knew exactly 

where the information was coming from. In fact, Commodity functioned as an  

information exchange among  ASR/Domino, Michigan Sugar, and United. To 

Plaintiff’s knowledge, Commodity did not prepare or publish any public reports. 

Further, Mr. Wistisen would at times explicitly state when the pricing and sold 

positions were coming straight from ASR/Domino, Michigan Sugar, or United. 

Defendants could at all times identify whose pricing and sold positions they 

received. 

IX. SUGAR PRICES HAVE RISEN MORE THAN THEY WOULD IN A 
COMPETITIVE MARKET DURING THE CLASS PERIOD 

103. Eighty percent of all sugar sold in the United States is Granulated Sugar.  

104. Although the FTC/DOJ Guidelines also provide a “safety zone” (i.e., 

presumptively permissible) for collaborations among competitors if it impacts no more than 

twenty percent of a market, the Producing Defendants accounted for fifty percent or more of the 

Granulated Sugar market, far above the twenty percent set forth in the FTC/DOJ Guidelines, 

which shows heightened antitrust risks. 

105. Granulated Sugar prices became significantly elevated during the Class Period as a 

result of Defendants’ conduct. This was contrary to pricing patterns prior to the Class Period. 

106. Moreover, sugar prices increased dramatically during the Class Period without a 

decline in the supply of sugar.  

107. In the past 20 years, the price of Granulated Sugar has doubled on an indexed 

basis. There is no economic rationale for the rate of price increases. 
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108. United employed Mr. Wistisen at least as early as the first half of 2019 to enable it 

to fix or coordinate prices with ASR/Domino. Cane sugar prices are now at their highest levels 

since November of 1974. Pricing reached a low point in February of 2014. Prices then started 

trending upward for the most part, but at modest levels of progression. Commencing on or about 

October of 2019, prices experienced one of the steepest climbs ever, which is ongoing. During 

that period, the Producer Price Index (“PPI”) calculated by the Federal Reserve Bank of St. 

Louis went from 87.6 to 97.4.  After United’s acquisition of Imperial in 2023, prices further 

increased, going from a PPI of 110.6 to 123.2 by the end of 2023.  

109. The following chart illustrates the dramatic sugar PPI increase during the Class 

Period. 
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Sugar Producer Price Index 
Source: U.S. BLS PPI Series PCU3113131131
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X. THE STRUCTURE AND CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PRODUCTION AND 
SALE OF GRANULATED SUGAR, TOGETHER WITH OTHER FACTORS, 

RENDER THE CONSPIRACY ECONOMICALLY PLAUSIBLE 

110. Granulated Sugar is a commodity product and competitors’ pricing and sold 

positions is material information.  

111. The sugar industry is also vulnerable to coordinated interaction because of its 

structural dynamics.  

112.   United and ASR/Domino have connected ownership interests that further raise 

the risks of coordination. United States Sugar has an ownership interest in SCGC through United 

States Sugar’s wholly-owned subsidiary South Bay Growers. SCGC, in turn, is one of the two 

owners of ASR/Domino. 

113. As explained above, the Producing Defendants strategically used price signals 

(messages) they send as well as receive. For example, United sent signals (messages) to 

competitors about pricing and considered how its own actions may cause market-wide prices to 

decline and what to do to avoid that situation.  

114.  In addition to the extensive information sharing by the Producing Defendants and 

the structural characteristics of the industry, there are other “plus factors” that plausibly suggest 

the likelihood of collusion, including, but not limited to: (1) high vertical integration, (2) high 

barriers to entry, (3) sugar industry consolidation and concentration, (4) inelastic supply and 

demand, (5) a lack of significant substitutes for Granulated Sugar, and (6) a history of antitrust 

violations by sugar manufacturers. 

115. The Granulated Sugar industry is almost entirely vertically integrated. In the 

Granulated Sugar industry, “vertical integration” means the Granulated Sugar producer owns or 

controls each aspect of growing sugar cane or sugar beets, processing these crops into raw sugar 
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using their own processing facilities, refining the raw sugar into Granulated Sugar in their own 

refining facilities, and selling their Granulated Sugar to direct purchasers.  

116. There are high barriers to becoming a manufacturer of Granulated Sugar. The 

start-up capital necessary to compete with today’s Granulated Sugar manufacturers would be 

substantial. Granulated Sugar manufacturers have large economies of scale, utilizing large and 

expensive production facilities. Furthermore, Granulated Sugar manufacturers must be vertically 

integrated with growers of sugar beets or sugar cane to qualify for United States Department of 

Agriculture loans and production allotments that enable growers to process raw sugar into 

Granulated Sugar without competition from imports.  

117. Due to high barriers to entry, the Granulated Sugar industry is highly concentrated. 

While the Producing Defendants dominate the industry, none of the remaining producers of 

Granulated Sugar have had a market share that remotely approaches that of the Producing 

Defendants. 

118. Furthermore, the industry has recently become even more concentrated when 

United acquired Imperial in 2023, resulting in a substantial increase in dominance by 

ASR/Domino and United.  

119. Demand for Granulated Sugar is inelastic, so a decrease in supply in the face of 

stable or rising demand will increase prices. Defendants recognize that Granulated Sugar demand 

is inelastic. The Producing Defendants knew that they could demand higher prices when less 

Granulated Sugar was available to sell. As a result, they routinely exchanged information about 

their sold position to maintain higher prices because they knew that there were no meaningful 

substitutes for Granulated Sugar.  
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120. Furthermore, Defendants knew that the price support programs implemented by 

the USDA limited the number of sources of raw sugar for refinement into Granulated Sugar and 

protected them from foreign competition. 

121. In sum, the Granulated Sugar industry has characteristics that make the exchanges 

by Defendants of competitively sensitive, non-public material internal information highly 

anticompetitive and allowed the Producing Defendants to raise, fix, maintain, or stabilize 

Granulated Sugar prices during the class period. As a result, Defendants’ unlawful conduct caused 

Plaintiff and the Class members to pay artificially inflated prices for Granulated Sugar during the 

Class Period. These prices exceeded the amounts they would have paid if the prices for 

Granulated Sugar had been determined in a competitive market. Plaintiff and Class members have 

suffered antitrust injury because of Defendants’ conduct. 

XI. THERE IS A HISTORY OF ANTICOMPETITIVE CONDUCT IN THE SUGAR 
INDUSTRY  

122. The sugar industry has been marked by repeated violations of the antitrust laws 

going back nearly 90 years. 

123. For example, The United States Supreme Court in the 1930s upheld a lower court 

ruling that the Sugar Institute, an industry trade association, violated the antitrust laws by, among 

other things, requiring advance pricing announcements by manufacturers with “a requirement of 

adherence, without deviation, to the prices and terms publicly announced.”10   

124. In the 1970s, the DOJ accused sugar refiners of using “brokers to act as go-

betweens in carrying price information and exchanging assurances on price actions between and 

 
10 United States v. Sugar Institute, 297 U.S. 553, 582 (1936). 
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among refiners” to facilitate price-fixing.11 The defendants in that case entered into  a consent 

decree with the Department of Justice in 1978, where they were enjoined from, among other 

things, “agreeing to fix prices or announce price changes in advance for the sale of . . . sugar . . . 

and from exchanging information, directly or indirectly, as to the sale of . . . sugar.”12   

XII. ANTITRUST IMPACT AND DAMAGES TO THE PLAINTIFF AND THE CLASS 

125. Because of the Defendants’ anticompetitive conduct: (1) competition in the 

Granulated Sugar market has been reduced or eliminated, (2) prices for Granulated Sugar have 

been maintained at supracompetitive levels, and (3) United States purchasers of Granulated Sugar 

have been deprived of the benefit of price competition. 

126. As described herein, during the Class Period, Plaintiff directly purchased 

Granulated Sugar from ASR/Domino. 

127. As a result of the Defendants’ anticompetitive conduct, Plaintiff and Class 

members paid more for Granulated Sugar than they otherwise would have and thus suffered 

antitrust injury and damages. The overcharges paid by Plaintiff and members of the Class for 

Granulated Sugar constitutes antitrust injury and harm to competition under the federal antitrust 

laws. 

XIII. CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

128. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of itself and as a class action under the 

provisions of Rules 23(a) and (b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on behalf of members of 

 
11 United States v. Great Western Sugar Co., et al., Case No. 74-2674-SW at ¶ 1415 (N.D. 

Cal. Dec. 19, 1974) (complaint brought by the United States in 1974 against Great Western Sugar 
Company, American Crystal Sugar Company, Amalgamated Sugar Company, and other sugar 
refiners). 

12 U.S. v. Great Western Sugar Co.,  No. 74-2674-SW, 1978 WL 1399 at *2 (N.D. Cal. 
Sept. 13, 1978); see https://www.justice.gov/atr/page/file/1138841/dl?inline for quoted language. 
This consent decree expired after ten years. 
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the following Class: All direct purchasers of Granulated Sugar from the Producing Defendants in 

the United States, beginning January 1, 2019, to the present (the “Class Period”). Excluded from the 

Class are (a) Defendants and their subsidiaries and affiliated entities and (b) all federal or state 

government entities or agencies. 

129. The Class is so numerous and geographically dispersed that joinder of all members 

is impracticable. Further, members of the Class are readily identifiable from information and 

records in United’s, Michigan Sugar’s, and ASR/Domino’s possession. 

130. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class. Plaintiff 

and members of the Class are direct purchasers of Granulated Sugar from one or more of the 

conspirators and were damaged by the same wrongful conduct of the Defendants. 

131. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect and represent the interests of members 

of the Class. Plaintiff’s interests are coincident with, and not antagonistic to, those of the members 

of the Class. 

132. Plaintiff is represented by counsel with experience in the prosecution and 

leadership of class action antitrust and other complex litigation. 

133. Class action treatment is a superior method for the fair and efficient adjudication of 

the controversy. Such treatment will permit many similarly situated persons to prosecute their 

common claims in a single forum simultaneously, efficiently, and without the unnecessary 

duplication of evidence, effort, or expense that numerous individual actions would require. 

134. Questions of law and fact common to the members of the Class predominate over 

questions that may affect only individual Class members, thereby making an award of damages to 

all members of the Class appropriate. Questions of law and fact common to members of the Class 

include, but are not limited to: 
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a. Whether Defendants engaged in a combination or conspiracy among 

themselves to fix, raise, maintain, or stabilize the prices of Granulated Sugar 

in the United States and its territories; 

b. Whether Defendants agreed to unreasonably restrain trade in violation of 

federal antitrust laws; 

c. The scope and duration of the alleged conspiracy; 

d. The effect of the alleged conspiracy on the price of Granulated Sugar during 

the Class Period; 

e. The type of injury suffered by Plaintiff and members of the Class;  

f. Whether the statute of limitations was tolled or whether Defendants 

fraudulently concealed the existence of their anticompetitive conduct from 

Plaintiff and the members of the Class; and 

g. Aggregate damages suffered by Plaintiff and members of the Class. 

135. The benefits of proceeding through the class mechanism, including providing 

injured Class members a method for obtaining redress on claims that could not practicably be 

pursued individually, substantially outweigh any potential difficulties in management of this class 

action. 

136. Plaintiff reserves the right to amend the definition of the Class, including, without 

limitation, the Class Period. 

XIV. EQUITABLE TOLLING AND FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT 

137. By equitable estoppel, Defendants’ concealment of their unlawful conspiracy has 

tolled any applicable statute of limitations for Plaintiff and the Class with respect to any claims 

and rights of action that Plaintiff and the Class have alleged in this Complaint.  
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138. Plaintiff and the Class were not placed on actual or constructive notice of the 

conspiracy alleged herein until, at the earliest, the DOJ’s Findings of Fact in support of its petition 

to stop the merger of United and Imperial was made public. The full scope of the Defendants’ 

unlawful conduct could not be discovered until the appellate exhibit volumes from the DOJ matter 

were made public. 

139. In addition, throughout the Class Period, the Defendants effectively, affirmatively, 

and fraudulently concealed their unlawful conspiracy from Plaintiff and the Class, and the 

conspiracy was inherently self-concealing. 

140. Plaintiff relied on Defendants’ promises to obey the law and act with integrity.  

141. ASR Group’s Code of Ethics and Business Conduct states in part, “ASR Group 

has always been dedicated to conducting business in a lawful and ethical manner in all of its 

operations.” It further states that it seeks success “only . . . while upholding the highest standards 

of ethical conduct and all of the laws, domestic and foreign, that apply to our work.” Regarding 

antitrust and competition laws, the Code states that ASR Group is “prohibited” from engaging in 

“agreements with competitors to fix or control prices,” and that it “may not engage in direct or 

indirect discussions or contacts with competitors regarding . . . [p]rices to be charged by ASR 

Group or others or regarding other terms and conditions of sales[;] [t]erritories or markets in 

which products will be sold[;] . . . [and] [b]usiness, marketing or strategic plans.” 

142. United’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics states that “[o]beying the law, both 

in letter and in spirit, is the foundation on which our ethical standards are built. All our 

employees, officers, directors, agents, and other representatives must respect and obey the laws of 

the cities, states, and countries in which we operate.” It further states that “[w]e seek to 

outperform our competition fairly and honestly,” and that there is an “obligation to protect 
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[United’s] assets [including United’s] confidential information. . . . Unauthorized use or 

distribution of United Sugars’ confidential information is prohibited.” 

143. Michigan Sugar’s commitment to “Sustainability and Corporate Social 

Responsibility” states that the company “live[s] by our values – Excellence, Pride, Integrity, 

Compassion, and Trust. This is the foundation of a business environment that sets respect and 

dignity for coworkers, suppliers, customers, and partners as an absolute expectation.” 

144. These promises to obey the law and behave with integrity prevented Plaintiff from 

discovery Defendants’ conduct earlier. 

XV. CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER THE CLAYTON ACT, SECTION 4 (15 U.S.C. § 15) 
FOR UNREASONABLE RESTRAINT OF TRADE  

IN VIOLATION OF SECTIONS 1 AND 3 OF THE SHERMAN ACT  
(15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 3) 

145. Plaintiff repeats the allegations set forth above as if fully set forth herein. 

146. The Defendants formed an unlawful contract, combination, or conspiracy in 

unreasonable restraint of trade in violation of Sections 1 and 3 of the Sherman Act, (15 U.S.C. 

§§ 1, 3) to raise, fix, maintain, or stabilize Granulated Sugar prices.  

147. Since at least 2019, Defendants agreed with each other to exchange competitively 

sensitive non-public information regarding prices, output, and costs in order to raise, fix, 

maintain, or stabilize the prices of Granulated Sugar. The agreement was intended to and did 

unreasonably restrain trade, suppress competition, and had the likely and actual effect of raising, 

fixing, maintaining, or stabilizing prices in the Granulated Sugar market in the United States in 

violation of Sections 1 and 3 of the Sherman Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 3). 

148. Pursuant to the agreement, the Defendants agreed to and did share pricing and 

other information that distorted and suppressed competition in the relevant market knowing and 
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intending that the information would be used to raise, fix, maintain, or stabilize prices of 

Granulated Sugar sold to Plaintiff and members of the Class. 

149. This conduct is unlawful under the per se standard. Defendants’ conduct is also 

unlawful under either a “quick look” or rule of reason analysis because the agreement is factually 

anticompetitive with no valid procompetitive justifications. Moreover, even if there were valid 

procompetitive justifications, such justifications could have been reasonably achieved through 

less restrictive means of competition. 

150. Plaintiff and Class members were injured by Defendants’ agreement that 

unreasonably restrained trade and raised, fixed, maintained, or stabilized prices of Granulated 

Sugar at artificially high levels. Plaintiff and the Class members paid higher prices for Granulated 

Sugar than they would have in the absence of Defendants’ violations of Sections 1 and 3 of the 

Sherman Act. 

XVI. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of itself and the proposed Class, prays for judgment 

against Defendants, as follows: 

1. That the Court adjudge and decree that the Defendants’ anticompetitive scheme 

unreasonably restrained trade and is unlawful and that each has violated Sections 1 and 3 of the 

Sherman Act; 

2. That Plaintiff and all others similarly situated be awarded damages suffered by 

reason of these violations and that those damages be trebled in accordance with the law; 

3. That the Court permanently enjoin Defendants from facilitating the exchange of 

sensitive information; 

4. That Plaintiff be awarded reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit; and 
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5. That Plaintiff and the Class be granted such other and further relief as the Court may 

deem just and proper.  

XVII. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

The Plaintiff, on behalf of itself and all others similarly situated, hereby requests a jury trial, 

pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38(b), on any, and all claims so triable. 

Dated:  March 14, 2024  
/s/ Scott Martin 
Scott Martin 
HAUSFELD LLP 
33 Whitehall Street 
New York, NY 10004 
Tel.: (646) 357-1100 
Fax: (212) 202-4322 
 
Michael Hausfeld 
HAUSFELD LLP 
888 16th St. N.W. 
Suite 300 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
Tel: (202)-540-7200 
Fax: (202)-540-7201 
 
Michael Lehmann 
HAUSFELD LLP 
600 Montgomery St. 
Suite 3200 
San Francisco, CA 94111 
Tel: (415) 633-1908 
Fax: (415) 633-4980 
 
Michael L. Roberts 
Erich P. Schork 
Sarah E. DeLoach 
ROBERTS LAW FIRM US, PC 
1920 McKinney Ave, Suite 700 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
Tel: (501) 821-5575 
Fax: (501) 821-4474 
mikeroberts@robertslawfirm.us 
erichschork@robertslawfirm.us 
sarahdeloach@robertslawfirm.us 

Case 1:24-cv-01941   Document 1   Filed 03/14/24   Page 36 of 37



 
  

 37 

 
Joseph C. Kohn 
William E. Hoese 
Douglas A. Abrahams 
KOHN, SWIFT & GRAF, P.C. 
1600 Market Street, Suite 2500 
Philadelphia, PA  19103 
Telephone: (215) 238-1700 
jkohn@kohnswift.com 
whoese@kohnswift.com 
dabrahams@kohnswift.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Proposed 
Class 
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